No. 45374-6-II (Consolidated Case)

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

ZYION D. HOUSTON-SCONIERS,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-04161-1 The Honorable John Hickman, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT HOUSTON-SCONIERS

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court violated Zyion Houston-Sconiers' confrontation rights by admitting hearsay statements pursuant to the excited utterance exception, because the statements were testimonial and the speaker did not testify at trial and was never subject to cross-examination.
- 2. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Zyion Houston-Sconiers assaulted Axsaulis Guice.
- 3. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Zyion Houston-Sconiers was armed with a firearm when he conspired to commit robbery.
- 4. Zyion Houston-Sconiers was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial by repeated instances of prosecutorial misconduct.
- 5. The trial court erred in finding that Zyion Houston-Sconiers had the present or future ability to pay discretionary legal financial obligations.
- Under Miller v. Alabama, U.S. , 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. 6. Ed. 2d 407 (2012), and its antecedents. RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(A), our state's "automatic decline" statute, is unconstitutional in violation of the Eighth Amendment and due process, both in isolation and when coupled with mandatory consecutive, "flat-time" sentencing enhancements imposed on adults. Our Supreme Court's decision upholding "automatic decline" many years ago in In re Boot, 130 Wn.2d 553, 925 P.2d 560 (1996), is no longer good law.
- 7. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to support the imposition of firearm enhancements.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court violate Zyion Houston-Sconiers' confrontation rights by admitting hearsay statements pursuant to the excited utterance exception, where the statements were

testimonial and the speaker did not testify at trial and was never subject to cross-examination? (Assignment of Error 1)

- 2. Were excited utterances nevertheless testimonial hearsay, where the incident spoken of had ended, where there was no indication that the speaker remained in any danger, and where the speaker was describing past events in order to assist law enforcement in apprehending and prosecuting the offenders? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 3. Was the improper admission of testimonial hearsay not harmless error, where the remaining evidence relating to that charge was minimal, vague, and not overwhelming? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 4. Did the State fail to meet its constitutional burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Zyion Houston-Sconiers assaulted Axsaulis Guice, where there was no testimony that Guice feared for her safety, and no reasonable juror could infer from Guice's behavior that she feared for her safety? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 5. Did the State fail to meet its constitutional burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Zyion Houston-Sconiers was armed with a firearm when he conspired to commit robbery, where the nature of the offense of conspiracy is an agreement, and there is no rational connection between an agreement and a firearm? (Assignment of Error 3)
- 6. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct where he: made prejudicial statements to the jury that were not sustained by the record; repeatedly implied that Zyion Houston-Sconiers committed additional uncharged and unproved crimes; made remarks to the jury disparaging defense counsel; and expressed his personal belief regarding the credibility of a witness and Houston-Sconiers guilt? (Assignment of Error 4)
- 7. Did the repeated instances of prosecutorial misconduct deny Zyion Houston-Sconiers his constitutional right to a fair trial? (Assignment of Error 4)

- 8. Did the trial court fail to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed discretionary legal financial obligations as part of Zyion Houston-Sconiers' sentence, where there was no evidence that he has the present or future ability to pay? (Assignment of Error 5)
- 9. Is Zyion Houston-Sconiers' challenge to the validity of the legal financial obligation order ripe for review? (Assignment of Error 5)
- 10. Is remand for resentencing the appropriate remedy when the trial court improperly orders discretionary legal financial obligations in violation of RCW 10.01.160(3). (Assignment of Error 5)
- 11. Is reversal and remand for further proceedings required because the automatic decline statute violates the Eighth Amendment and due process and the holdings to the contrary in <u>Boot</u> are no longer good law, and because any sentencing scheme that fails to consider the differences between adults and juveniles in imposing a sentence violates the proportionality principles of the Eighth Amendment? (Assignment of Error 6)
- 12. Is the State required to prove that a firearm was actually capable of shooting a projectile at the time that the crimes are committed when alleging that a defendant was armed for the purpose of a firearm sentence enhancement and, if so, did the State fail to meet that burden in this case? (Assignment of Error 7)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Zyion Dontice Houston-Sconiers with seven counts of first degree robbery (RCW 9A.56.190, .200), one count of second degree assault (RCW 9A.36.021), one count of conspiracy to commit first degree robbery (RCW 9A.28.040), and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm (RCW 9.41.040), all arising from four incidents occurring on the night of October 31, 2012. (CP 1-4, 17-22) The State also alleged that Houston-Sconiers was armed with a firearm during the commission of the robberies, the assault, and the conspiracy. (CP 17-22)

At the close of the State's case in chief, Houston-Sconiers moved to dismiss all of the charges for lack of sufficient proof.¹ (RP 1959-70) The State agreed that it failed to present any evidence to support the robbery charged in count VIII, so the trial court dismissed that charge. (RP 1943-44) But the trial court denied Houston-Sconiers' motion to dismiss the remaining counts. (RP 1980-83)

The jury found Houston-Sconiers guilty as charged, and answered affirmatively that he was armed with a firearm during commission of five of the six robberies, assault and conspiracy.² (RP 2370-72, CP 206-21)

At sentencing, the prosecutor requested that the trial court impose an exceptional sentence downward. Because of the manner

¹ Houston-Sconiers did not challenge the unlawful possession of a firearm charge, and stipulated that he was ineligible to possess a firearm on October 31, 2012. (Exh. P34)

² The jury was not asked to find whether Houston-Sconiers was armed with a firearm during the robbery alleged in count IX. (RP 2390-91)

in which Houston-Sconiers was charged, a standard range sentence followed by seven consecutive firearm enhancements would result in a term of confinement that even the prosecutor thought was excessive, given the nature of the crimes and the fact that Houston-Sconiers was just 17 years old at the time of the offenses. (CP 225-27; RP 2386-87, 2390) Houston-Sconiers was facing a standard range sentence of 501-543 months (41.75-45.25 years), with 372 of those months (31 years) to be served as "flat time." (CP 227, 236, 263-64; RP 2390) The prosecutor recommended that the court impose no time for the crimes themselves, and impose just the mandatory firearm sentence enhancements, for a total term of confinement of 372 months. (RP 2386, 2390; CP 228) The trial court adopted the State's recommendation, and imposed a term of confinement of 372 months (31 years), plus both mandatory and discretionary legal financial obligations. (RP 2403; CP 230-31, 239) This appeal timely follows. (CP 247)

B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

Brothers Andrew and Steven Donnelly were trick-or-treating in Tacoma's North End on Halloween night of 2012. (RP 988, 1124, 1125) Then 19-year-old Andrew was dressed in a graduation gown

and red devil mask, and 13-year-old Steven was dressed as a ninja.³ (RP 348, 986, 988, 989, 1122, 1124) Around 9:30 PM, three young men approached them on the street. (RP 468, 991, 345) The young men wore dark hoodies and one had a bandana around his mouth. (RP 922, 1130, 1131) Andrew thought one of the men also wore a white hockey mask, but Steven did not remember any of the young men wearing a mask. (RP 1004, 1130) Andrew testified that all three men looked African-American, and that they were all about the same height, with one young man being slightly shorter than the other two. (RP 1004-05)

One young man held a silver gun, which he pointed at Steven then demanded their bags of candy. (RP 993, 1131, 1132, 1133) The young men grabbed Andrew's bag and Steven's backpack, then the young men ran away. (RP 354, 993, 996-97, 1334-35) The young men also took Andrew's red devil mask. (RP 1000, 1138, 354) Andrew and Steven then walked to their grandparents' house and called the police. (RP 998, 345)

Officer Wendy Haddow-Brunk responded, and obtained statements from Andrew and Steven. (RP 344, 346, 348) They told

³ To avoid confusion, Andrew and Steven Donnelly will be referred to by their first names. No disrespect is intended.

Officer Haddow-Brunk that the young man who held the gun was about 18 years old and approximately five feet eight inches tall, with a medium build, wearing a black jacket and pants and a white hockey mask. (RP 351-52) They thought the second young man was approximately the same age, height and build, and wearing similar clothing. (RP 352) And the third young man appeared to be younger, shorter and thinner than the other two young men, but also dressed in dark clothing.⁴ (RP 353)

A short time later, 15-year-old friends Destinae Peterson-Mims, Axsaulis Guice, Edward Bradley, and Isaiah Greene were also trick-or-treating in the North End, when they were approached by three young men. (RP 770, 773, 774, 775, 814, 815, 818, 866, 867-68, 870, 949, 950, 954, 955) The young men wore dark clothing and hoods over their heads, and their faces were covered by a white mask, a red mask, and a bandana. (RP 780, 804, 819, 820, 832, 835, 871, 955-56, 957) One young man pointed a silver gun at the friends, and said "this is a robbery." (RP 785-86, 820, 822-23, 829, 870, 872, 954, 957) The young man demanded their bags of candy and cellular phones. (RP 786) Peterson-Mims relinquished her

 $^{^4}$ The first degree robbery offenses charged in counts I and II arise from this incident. (CP 17-18)

pillow case and Bradley relinquished his backpack, but Guice hid her candy bag and walked away. (RP 786, 822-23, 821, 837, 869, 873, 958-59) The young men took the bags and ran away. (RP 786, 837, 876)

The three young men were all different heights, and one was significantly shorter than the other two. (RP 839, 872, 879, 959-60) Peterson-Mims testified that she is five feet eight inches tall, and all three young men were shorter than her. (RP 796) Bradley testified the young men were African-American. (RP 871) Guice testified that she could not tell their age or race, but that the young man holding the gun sounded like Zyion Houston-Sconiers, who she once heard talking at a party they both attended.⁵ (RP 824, 849-50)

The friends did not call the police, but later Peterson-Mims' parents called 911 to report the incident. (RP 857, 922) Officer Jared Tiffany responded and obtained statements from Peterson-Mims and Guice. (RP 896, 900-01)

At 10:24 PM, Officer Rodney Halfhill responded to a 911 call from James Wright reporting another robbery in the area. (RP 1067, 1071) Wright told Officer Halfhill that the suspects ran in a southerly

⁵ The first degree robbery offenses charged in counts III, IV and V, and the second degree assault conviction charged in count VI, arise from this incident. (CP 18-20)

direction, so the Officer immediately called dispatch and requested that officers set up a containment operation in the area. (RP 1067, 1069, 1071) Then he took a statement from Wright, who said he had been walking through the adjacent apartment complex and talking on his cellular phone, when he was approached by four or five young black men. (RP 1073) The young men demanded Wright's cellular phone, so he handed it to them. (RP 1073) He noticed the young men were wearing dark clothing, and one wore a white hockey mask and held a silver gun.⁶ (RP 1073)

Several officers responded to the area to set up a containment operation. (RP 363, 669, 903) Because the suspects fled on foot, police also deployed a K9 tracking team. (RP 364, 728, 734) The tracking dog led officers down an alley, and to a Cadillac parked on the back lawn of residence. (RP 738) The officers shone flashlights inside the Cadillac, and saw several people inside. (RP 738-39) The officers ordered the occupants to come out of the car, and they complied. (RP 740)

Five young African-American males exited the Cadillac and were taken into custody. (RP 741) Those young men were Zyion

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ The first degree robbery offense charged in count IX arose from this incident. (CP 21)

Houston-Sconiers, Treson Roberts, Zion Johnson, LeShawn Alexander, and Amancio Tolbert. (RP 370, 670, 907, 1562)

Houston-Sconiers was 17 years old, and five feet nine inches tall, and was wearing a gray vest, a dark thermal shirt and a hat that looked like the hood of a sweatshirt. (RP 381-82) Roberts was 16 years old, and was also wearing dark clothing and had a blue bandana in his pocket. (RP 672, 673) Johnson was 13 years old and five feet two inches tall, and was wearing dark clothing and carrying a dark blue bandana. (RP 374, 375, 378) Alexander was five feet eight inches tall and wearing gray clothing. (RP 905-06)

The owner of the property, Dorothy Worthey, came outside to see what was going on. (RP 1155, 1228-29) Worthey told the officers they could search the Cadillac, which belonged to her son and had been parked in the yard for some time because it needed to be repaired. (RP 1156, 1171, 1186, 1224, 1229, 1231) Inside the Cadillac, police found several cellular phones, two backpacks, a red devil mask, a white hockey mask in the glove box, and a silver handgun under the front passenger seat. (RP 530, 537-38, 539, 542, 545, 547, 553, 559-60, 592-93, 1152, 1154, 1158)

Andrew and Steven identified one of the backpacks found in the car as the one taken from Steven that night. (RP 996, 1137) The

trial court also admitted, over defense objection, a short video taken on a cellular phone over two weeks before the incident, showing what appears to be Houston-Sconiers sitting in a car that resembled the Cadillac, holding a gun that resembled the gun police found during the search. (RP 1612-14,1655-56; Exh. P3)

Johnson was charged with five counts of first degree robbery but pleaded guilty to just two counts and was given immunity so that he could testify as a witness for the State. (RP 210, 1088, 1093-94) He testified that he did not commit the crimes and answered "I don't know" to most of the questions he was asked on the stand. (RP 1088, 1091-93)

Charges filed against Tolbert were dismissed, and he was granted immunity so that he could testify against Houston-Sconiers and Roberts. (RP 126, 128, 1821) He testified that he was too drunk on Halloween to remember the details of the evening, but he did not rob anyone or see anyone with a gun. (RP 1817-18, 1821, 1859) When asked about a proffer that he made to the prosecutor before he was granted immunity, wherein he implicated Houston-Sconiers and Roberts, he testified that he read LeShawn Alexander's statement and memorized it so that he would also have a "get out of jail free" card. (RP 1823)

All charges filed against LeShawn Alexander were also dismissed, and he was also granted immunity so that he could testify as a State's witness. (RP 80, 1518, 1532-33) According to Alexander, he met up with Houston-Sconiers, Johnson, Tolbert and Roberts on Halloween night, and they smoked marijuana and drank vodka together. (RP 38-39) Eventually, Alexander and Tolbert left to go buy some food. (RP 1441, 1442-43) Before the group split up, Alexander noticed that Houston-Sconiers had a white hockey mask. (RP 1447) When they met up again later, Roberts had a red devil mask. (RP 1448)

According to Alexander, Roberts and Houston-Sconiers ran down an alley, then returned with a cellular phone. (RP 1451) Later, as the group walked through an apartment complex, they saw a man talking on a cellular phone. (RP 1452) According to Alexander, Houston-Sconiers and Roberts ran up to the man, and Houston-Sconiers pointed a silver gun at him and demanded his phone. (RP 1454) The man gave them the phone, then they all ran down an alley and to the Cadillac. (RP 1456, 1457-58) They got inside, and started eating candy from a backpack that Johnson was carrying. (RP 1457-58, 1459) The police arrived soon after and arrested the group. (RP 1464)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. The admission of James Wright's statement as an excited utterance violated Houston-Sconiers' confrontation rights because the statement was testimonial and because Wright did not testify at trial and was never subject to cross-examination.

The State alleged in count IX that Houston-Sconiers robbed James Wright. (CP 21) After the State experienced difficulties securing Wright's presence to testify at trial, the prosecutor sought permission to introduce the statement Wright made to Officer Halfhill describing the incident. (RP 1023-24, 1045-46) Houston-Sconiers repeatedly objected, arguing that admission of the statement would violate his Sixth Amendment right to confrontation. (RP 1044-45, 1057, 1968-70) The trial court ignored this constitutional hurdle and admitted the statement, through Officer Halfhill's testimony, as an excited utterance under ER 803(a)(2). (RP 1062-63, 1072-74, 1968-70) James Wright never testified.

Under the Sixth Amendment, an accused has a right to confront witnesses against him. <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 541 U.S. 36, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). Unless the witness is unavailable to testify and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness, the confrontation clause prohibits admission of "testimonial" statements of a witness who does not take

the witness stand at trial. <u>Davis v. Washington</u>, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006); <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 53-54. Nontestimonial hearsay, on the other hand, is admissible under the Sixth Amendment subject only to the rules of evidence. <u>State v.</u> <u>Pugh</u>, 167 Wn.2d 825, 831-32, 225 P.3d 892 (2009) (citing <u>Davis</u>, 547 U.S. at 821).

Under ER 803(a)(2), a statement is not excluded as hearsay if it is an excited utterance "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." But excited utterances can still be testimonial. <u>State v. Ohlson</u>, 162 Wn.2d 1, 17, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007).

Statements made in the course of a police interrogation are nontestimonial if they were made under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of interrogating the speaker was "to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency." <u>Davis</u>, 547 U.S. at 822. But they are testimonial if circumstances "objectively indicate that there [wa]s no such ongoing emergency" and "the primary purpose of the interrogation [wa]s to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." <u>Davis</u>, 547 U.S. at 822. Factors to consider include: (1) whether the

speaker is speaking of events as they are actually occurring or instead describing past events; (2) whether a reasonable listener would recognize that the speaker is facing an ongoing emergency; (3) whether the questions and answers show that the statements were necessary to resolve the present emergency or instead to learn what had happened in the past; and (4) the level of formality of the interrogation. <u>Davis</u>, 547 U.S. at 827. "Statements taken by officers in the course of investigations are almost always testimonial." <u>State v. Tyler</u>, 138 Wn. App. 120, 127, 155 P.3d 1002 (2007).

For example, in <u>State v. Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d 409, 209 P.3d 479 (2009), the Supreme Court found that statements given by a robbery victim to responding police officers were testimonial, even though the suspect was still at large. In reaching that conclusion, the <u>Koslowski</u> Court first noted that the statement described past events because the suspects "had completed the robbery and left [the victim's] residence and there is no evidence of any ongoing situation or relationship with [the victim] that might suggest she was still in danger from them... Although the time that had elapsed was evidently short, she was describing past events and not events as they were actually happening." 166 Wn.2d at 422.

The Koslowski Court also concluded that the victim was not

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