COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

ZYION DONTICE HOUSTON-SCONIERS and TRESON LEE ROBERTS, APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable John R. Hickman

No. 12-1-04161-1 & 12-1-04160-3

Brief of Respondent

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By Brian Wasankari Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

Finally, in discussing the improbability of the Defendant Houston-Sconiers' contention that he was being set up by his former co-defendants, see RP 2307-35, the prosecutor stated the following:

It's so incredibly unlucky that he [i.e., Houston-Sconiers] chose to make phone calls to his buddies and say niggas be snitching. I'm not telling you to do something to that — and I'm not going to say it again—but what happens to that happens to him. Oh, no, that's not a threat. Who is he talking about? Money, by name. It is a surprise that Money takes the stand after that, don't remember, don't remember, don't remember.

RP 2349-51. Counsel for Houston-Sconiers objected that the statements. RP 2351. On appeal, Defendant Houston-Sconiers argues that the deputy prosecutor "appealed to the passion and prejudice of the jury and invited the jury to determine guilt based on improper grounds," BOHS, p. 29, in so arguing, the prosecutor was simply responding to Houston-Sconier's argument in closing that he had been set up by L.A. Compare RP 2307-with RP 2349-51.

Because it is not misconduct for a prosecutor to argue that the evidence does not support a defense theory, and "the prosecutor, as an

advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel," *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87, the prosecutor's statements here were not misconduct, and Defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

The second way in which Defendants argue that the deputy prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct is by making "several comments disparaging defense counsel." BOHS, p. 25-33, BOR, p. 28-29. The record shows otherwise.

"[A] prosecutor must not impugn the role or integrity of defense counsel." *State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 431-32, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). Hence, "[p]rosecutorial statements that malign defense counsel can severely damage an accused's opportunity to present his or her case and are therefore impermissible." *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d at 432.

Here, Defendants argue that the following five groups of statements "disparage[ed] defense counsel" or her role. BOHS, p. 30-31.

First, Defendants argue that the prosecutor's statement that "[d]efense counsel just argued against herself in regard to the standard of proof," RP 2335-36, disparaged defense counsel, but the prosecutor here was simply "mak[ing] a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel." *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87.

Defense counsel had made at least arguably inconsistent statements during her closing remarks regarding the concept of "abiding belief" as it

pertains to the reasonable doubt definition. RP 2333-34. First, she argued that the "abiding belief" did not mean "you feel confident of your verdict, you know, next week, next month, you know five years from now[.]" RP 2333. However, she seemed to almost immediately reverse her position, and at least to imply that an "abiding belief" should mean that "[t]his is a decision that will last," and that an abiding belief should last after you leave the jury room because "[i]t's permanent." RP 2334.

It was in this context that the deputy prosecutor noted that "[d]efense counsel just argued against herself in regard to the standard of proof in this abiding belief." RP 2335. However, the deputy prosecutor went on to state, in relevant part,

[a]nd this is when I said she [i.e., defense counsel] argued against herself, she said it's a final decision, and it is. But that's the point. It's not difficult to understand. And this concept of believe it today, believe it in your lounge chair or whatever, that applies, she's right.

RP 2337.

In ultimately arguing that defense counsel was "right," the deputy prosecutor could not have been disparaging or impugning her. He was simply making a fair response to her argument.

Because "the prosecutor, as an advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel," *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87, the prosecutor's statements here were not misconduct.

SuffEvid-ProsMisc-IAC-AutoDecConst-Houston-Sconiers-Robert-current.docx - 68 -

Second, Defendants argue that the deputy prosecutor impugned counsel through the following comments:

I absolutely 100 percent disagree with [counsel for Houston-Sconier's] statement as to what witnesses said and what the evidence was in this case. And some of the issues that were woven in their as if they're premises, they're true things, the foundation of what she's saying is true.

RP 2338. See BOHS, p. 30-31.

After making this statement, the deputy prosecutor went on to offer his recollection of the testimony of Detective Tscheuschner, Tim Taylor, and K-9 Officer Chris Martin. RP 2339-41. Counsel for Houston-Sconiers did present a different recollection of such testimony. *See* RP 2330-32.

Here, the deputy prosecutor simply stated that he "disagree[d]" with defense counsel's recollection of the testimony. If expressing "disagree[ment]" with defense counsel were equivalent to impugning defense counsel, prosecutors would be unable to effectively argue their cases, particularly where counsel may not accurately recall the testimony of a particular witness.

Indeed, the deputy prosecutor here was simply arguing that the evidence did not support the defense theory, and because "the prosecutor, as an advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel," *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87, his statements were not misconduct.

Third, Defendants argue that the deputy prosecutor "disparage[ed] defense counsel," BOHS, p. 30-31, in the following statements:

We don't know based on the forensics analysis, whether this hockey mask, so to speak, had nicks on it from her client's glasses, okay. What's the premise involved in that? What's the misrepresentation based on the evidence about that? And that is that the defendant wears glasses at all. He's in the video with the gun, no glasses. Nobody mentioned that he wears glasses, the officers, et cetera, but he has glasses on in the courtroom.

RP 2344.

Here, the deputy prosecutor did not impugn or disparage defense counsel at all. He made a direct response to her argument that the police investigation lacked sufficient forensic analysis because it failed to examine the back of the hockey mask "for little nicks from glasses." RP 2230. Although the deputy prosecutor used the word "misrepresentation," he was referring to the defendant, not the defendant's attorney, and even then, he was making an argument based on evidence in the record: the surveillance video which showed that Houston-Sconiers was not wearing glasses on the night of the robberies.

Because "the prosecutor... is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel," *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87, these statements were not misconduct.

Finally, Defendants argue that the deputy prosecutor improperly "implied that, contrary to defense counsel's role, his role is to elicit the truth," BOHS, p. 31, through the following two sets of statements:

I treated [witness Shantell Bush] with respect. You may disagree. But I was strong for a reason because when individuals get on the stand, my job is to challenge the evidence so that you can ultimately decide whether somebody's credible or not.

RP 2346 (emphasis added).

So, in order to get to that point, my job and the process as an advocate as a person, as I said, to challenge the evidence is not to take what Ms. Bush says and just, okay, Ms. Bush, open-ended question, what's your answer to this? Thank you very much. It's to challenge it. And that's the only way you discover, for instance, that she's been talked to during her testimony by somebody who was in here [i.e., the courtroom].

RP 2348 (emphasis added).

However, these statements do no more than simply and accurately state that an advocate's role is to challenge the evidence at trial. In making these statements, the deputy prosecutor never said or implied that the prosecutor, as an advocate, is "elicit[ing] truth," BOHS, p. 31, or that defense counsel is not. Thus, neither of these statements "impugn[ed] the role or integrity of defense counsel." *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d at 431-32. Rather, the deputy prosecutor did no more than make a fair response to the

arguments of defense counsel. See RP 2346 (noting that these arguments were meant to counter those of defense counsel for Roberts); BOR, p. 29.

The deputy prosecutor's statements may also be seen as a response to Counsel for Houston-Sconiers –perhaps rather inartfully, phrased contention that, "[u]nlike the prosecutor," she was not going to start from the presumption that Mr. Houston-Sconiers is guilty. RP 2303.

Because "the prosecutor, as an advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel," *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87, the prosecutor's statements here were not misconduct, and Defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

The third way in which Defendants argue that the deputy prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct is by "clearly express[ing] his personal opinion that [A.]T[.] was lying on the stand and was hiding his knowledge of and involvement with the robberies." BOHS, p. 31-32, BOR, p. 28-29. The record shows otherwise.

It is improper for a prosecutor to "assert[her or] his personal opinion of the credibility of the witness and the guilt or innocence of the accused." *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984). *See State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 30, 195 P.3d 940 (2008); *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53, 134 P.3d 221 (2006).

The incidents of which Defendants now complain include the following exchanges between the deputy prosecutor and A.T. while A.T. was testifying the second time:

Q. But you can be charged with perjury if you don't tell the truth?

[COUNSEL FOR HOUSTON-SCONIERS]: Your Honor, I'm going to object to this line of questioning. It's apparent Counsel's trying to badger the witness. There's no indication that he hasn't testified truthfully.

THE COURT: I'm going to overrule the objection, and I will limit that statement to what you just said, sir.

[DEPUTY PROSECUTOR]: Thank you.

Q. You understand that?

A. Yeah.

RP 1822-23.

Q. All right. So understanding you can't be charged with any offense related to this, did you do any robbery that evening?

A. No.

[COUNSEL FOR ROBERTS]: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I'm going to sustain the objection.

Q. Were you present when any robbery –

A. No.

O. – was committed?

A. No.

O. And you're sure of that?

A. Yeah. I think – I don't remember. I don't know.

Q. Well, you just said "no" twice.

A. I don't remember. I was just saying "no" because you got a smart attitude.

RP 1859-60.

At no point in these exchanges did the deputy prosecutor "express his personal opinion that [A.]T[.] was lying on the stand and was hiding his knowledge of and involvement with the robberies." BOHS, p. 31-32.

Though he did draw out the inconsistency in A.T.'s testimony that he both answered "no" to the questions or whether he engaged in a robbery or was present during one and testified that he didn't remember, RP 1859-60, he never "assert[ed] his personal opinion of the credibility of the witness." *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

Therefore, they were not improper, and Defendants have failed to show prosecutorial misconduct in this regard.

The final way in which Defendants argue that the deputy prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct is by allegedly "express[ing] his *personal belief* that [Defendants] committed the robberies[.]" BOHS, p. 32 (emphasis added). In support of this contention, the Defendant's point to the following statement by the deputy prosecutor during his closing argument: "[w]e know *from that evidence* there is no issue that Mr. Houston-Sconiers is guilty of every crime charged, period." RP 32 (emphasis added).

The "evidence" to which the deputy prosecutor was referring here was a recording of the telephone calls made by Houston-Sconiers from jail. RP 2234-35. Because the prosecutor was arguing that "[w]e know

from that evidence," he was not "assert[ing] his personal opinion of... the guilt or innocence of the accused." *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140. He was properly "draw[ing] reasonable inferences *from the evidence* and... express[ing] such inferences to the jury." *Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. at 519 (emphasis added).

Therefore, his statements were not improper, the Defendants have failed to show prosecutorial misconduct, and their convictions should be affirmed.

4. ALTHOUGH THE ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED AND IS NOT RIPE, THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF THE LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATION WAS PROPER BECAUSE IT CONSIDERED DEFENDANTS' FUTURE ABILITY TO PAY.

There are mandatory court costs and fees, which sentencing courts must impose, including a criminal filing fee, a crime victim assessment, and a DNA database fee. RCW 36.18.020(h); RCW 7.68.035; RCW 43.43.7541. Trial courts may also require a defendant to pay costs associated with bringing a case to trial, such as recoupment for a publicly-provided defense, through in Pierce County, the Department of Assigned Counsel, pursuant to RCW 10.01.160.

There are two limitations in the statute to protect defendants:

(3) The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In

determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

(4) A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs.

RCW 10.01.160.

In this case, Defendants challenge the discretionary cost imposed: the \$500.00 Department of Assigned Counsel recoupment.

a. Defendant has failed to show why this Court should treat defendant's legal financial obligation as illegal sentencing, therefore the issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.

Failure to object precludes raising an issue on appeal. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). The specific issue of whether a sentencing court considered a defendant's ability to pay is not one of constitutional magnitude that can be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Calvin*, 316 P.3d 496, 507 (2013) (*citing State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241-42, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997)). A defendant may only appeal a non-constitutional issue on the same grounds on which he objected below. *State v. Thetford*, 109 Wn.2d 392, 397, 745 P.2d 496 (1987); *State v. Hettich*, 70 Wn. App. 586, 592, 854 P.2d 1112 (1993).

In this case, Defendants had an opportunity to object to the discretionary legal financial obligation (LFO) imposed and provide information of extraordinary circumstances that would make payment inappropriate. Defendants failed to object. Therefore, they failed to properly preserve the issue for appeal.

An appellate court may grant discretionary review for three issues raised for the first time on appeal: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). *See also State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d 607, 618, 290 P.3d 942 (2012). Defendant does not specifically claim relief on any of these three grounds.

Therefore, the issue was not properly preserved for appeal and this Court should decline to grant review of it.

b. <u>Defendant's challenge to the legal financial</u>
obligations is not ripe for review because the
State has not attempted enforcement.

Challenges to orders establishing LFOs are not ripe for review until the State attempts to curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). *See also State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 523-24, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009) ("the

time to examine a defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation").

In the present case, there is nothing in the record showing that the State has attempted to enforce the LFO. Therefore, the issue is not yet ripe for review.

State v. Bahl, upon which Defendant relies to assert his claim is ripe, does not require a different result. 164 Wn.2d 729, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). The Court in Bahl, held: "a defendant may assert a preenforcement vagueness challenge to sentencing conditions if the challenge is sufficiently ripe." *Id.* at 751 (emphasis added). The Court specifically contrasted a vagueness challenge, which may be ripe for review before enforcement, with challenges to the imposition of LFOs, which are not ripe. *Id.* at 749.

c. Because the record shows the judge considered evidence of Defendant's ability to pay, the trial court judge did not act in a clearly erroneous manner by imposing legal financial obligations.

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